
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond 
Meeting Notice –November 16, 2022 

WHAT: The City of Richmond’s Economic Development Authority will hold its 
November Audit & Finance Committee Meeting 

WHEN:  Wednesday November 16, 2022 at 11:00 AM 

WHERE: Main Street Station, 1500 East Main Street, 3rd Floor Conference Room 

CONTACT: Carla Childs at (804) 646-7438 or RichmondEDA@rva.gov 

For more information about The City of Richmond’s Economic Development Authority (EDA), 
Visit:  http://www.rvaeda.org/ 

mailto:carla.childs@rva.gov
http://www.rvaeda.org/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA 



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  
OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND 

Audit and Finance Committee Agenda 
November 16, 2022, 12:00 PM 

 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

II. Public Meeting Disclosure 
 

III. Public Comment (5 minutes) 
 

IV. Meeting Minutes 
A. Meeting Minutes – October 27, 2022 

 
V. ASM Report 

A. October Report 
 
VI. Review of Financial Statements  

A. October Report 
 

VII. New Business 
A. ASM Contract 
B. AG Reese Contract 

 
VIII. Other 

 
IX. Adjournment 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEETING MINUTES 



1 

 

Economic Development Authority (EDA) of the City of Richmond, Virginia 

Committee Meeting Minutes  

October 27, 2022 Audit & Finance Committee Meeting  

 

 

Members present: 

Nathan Hughes, Chairperson 

John Molster 

Neil Millhiser 

Jéron Crooks 

 

Others present: 

Carla Childs – City of Richmond, Department of Economic Development 

Glenn Major – ASM Global 

Leonard Sledge – City of Richmond, Department of Economic Development 

Lisa Jones – A. G. Reese & Associates 

Rick Winston – City of Richmond, Department of Economic Development 

Tabatha Sechrist – ASM Global 

 

Call to Order: 

Mr. Hughes called the meeting to order at 11:02 am. Ms. Childs recorded the meeting using Microsoft 

Teams.   

 

Public Comments:   

No public comments were received via email, phone, or otherwise by staff per Ms. Childs. Mr. Sledge 

read the public disclaimer.  The meeting notice was properly posted on the Economic Development 

Authority website and outside of the Department of Economic Development Office located at 1500 East 

Main Street prior to the meeting.  

 

Approval of Minutes of the Previous Meeting: 

Mr. Hughes asked for a motion to adopt the minutes of the September 22, 2022 Audit and Finance Committee 

meeting. Mr. Molster moved to accept the minutes. Mr. Crooks seconded the motion. The Motion passed 

unanimously. 

 

ASM Report: 

Mr. Major reported three (3) events held at the Training Center for the month of September. A new 

employee will start November 1, 2022. This is part-time position converted to full-time. Maintenance 

for the month included: replacement of carpet squares in various spaces, tree limbing, seeding of grass 

and an upgrade to the fence to make the field modular for events. Ms. Sechrist reported the Training 

Center ended the month of September with a net income of $25,000.  Year-to-Date net income totaled 

$45,000. Accounts Receivable total $53,000. Accounts Payable total $12,000, nothing over Net-30 days. 

There is a total of $85,000 received in advanced deposits for events starting in October 2022 through 

September 2024.  The utility water expense was higher than budget due to increased irrigation. This 

monthly amount should wane into the fall, starting with October’s financials. There was a discussion 

and question of the cost of maintenance and use of the training field with the absence of the Commanders 

Football Team. It was concluded that there would be talks on how best to utilize and maintain the future 

use of the field. 

 

 



2 

 

Review of Financial Statements:  

Stone Brewing 

Ms. Jones reported the balance sheet had a cash balance of $2.5 million. The EDA received the Stone 

Brewing rent payment for the month. Ms. Jones noted that the interest expense has increased from $100 

the previous year to $700 this year. 

 

EDA Operations  

There were no unusual expenses. The $300,000 received from the City of Richmond for the CARE 

program was transferred to the CARE account loan program. The $100,000 grant funds for the Façade 

program was transferred to the Façade bank account.  

 

Leigh Street Operations 

Ms. Jones reported the EDA received the $33,000 annual payment from Bon Secours for Westhampton. 

This includes $5,000 for rent and $28,000 for the maintenance reserve. Mr. Sledge reported staff received 

a quote to install a fence around the Westhampton Ball Field. The contract will be available for the next 

meeting authorizing the EDA to use funds from the Westhampton reserve account for payment, as this 

is a capital expense. The EDA will provide funding for the fence. Pursuant to the Facility Use Agreement 

with St. Bridget Catholic School, the school will reimburse the EDA $7,000 for a portion of the cost. 

 

Loan Accounts 

There were no unusual payments to the loan funds. 

 

Old Business:  

Mr. Sledge asked the Board to consider a motion to authorize John Molster, Nathan Hughes, and 

Leonard Sledge as signers on signature cards and other documents to update the signers at various 

banks where the EDA has accounts. Mr. Millhiser made the motion and Mr. Molster seconded the 

motion. The Motion passed unanimously and will be submitted to EDA Board for approval. 

 

Mr. Sledge made a recommendation to adjust the Committee meeting time from 11:00 am to 11:30 AM. 

The committee was in agreement with the recommendation. 

 

Adjournment: 

After a break for lunch, the meeting adjourned at 1:01 PM. 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted 

 

 

 

           

      Secretary to the meeting 

 

Approved: 

 

 

     

John Molster, EDA Board Chair 



  ASM AND FINANCE REPORTS

























































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AG Reese and Associates Contract 



1 

THIS CONTRACT, made and entered into this ____ day of _______________, 
2022 by and between the Economic Development Authority of the City of 
Richmond, Virginia, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, 
acting by and through its duly authorized representative, hereinafter referred to as 
the “Authority,” party of the first part, and A. G. Reese & Associates PC, with 
principal offices located at 621 North 3rd Street, Richmond, Virginia 23219, with 
Federal I.D. No. 54-1254269 hereinafter referred to as the “Contractor,” party of 
the second part. 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to engage the services of the Contractor to 
provide accounting services; 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual undertakings of the 
parties to this Contract, the Authority and the Contractor hereby agree that the 
Contractor shall provide services as an independent contractor in accordance with 
the terms and conditions of this Contract. 

ARTICLE I – SCOPE OF SERVICES AND TERM 

1.1 Services.   In connection with both Authority operations which include 
Operations account, Stone Brewery, Leigh Street and Westhampton 
Facilities and Altria Theater and with the Authority’s management of certain 
fiduciary loan programs (EZIL, CARE, CAP, CRLF, EDHRLF and 
operations) administered on behalf of the City Of Richmond, the Contractor 
shall furnish the Authority with services that include but are not necessarily 
limited to the following: 

1.1.1 Authority Operations. 

A. Review of invoices and preparation of checks monthly or as 
necessary.

B. Monitor Authority bank account balances.

C. Visit Authority office at 1500 East Main Street no less than once 
weekly to review mail, and emails, messages and handle such matters 
as appropriate.

D. Post receipts and disbursements by fund to the general ledger in 
QuickBooks.

E. Perform monthly write-up services to include preparation of bank 
reconciliations on all Authority accounts, review cash receipt and 
disbursement activity, post journal entries, and prepare workpapers (fixed



2 

assets, accounts receivable and accounts payable, grants received and 
grants paid, prepaids, deferred income, and other similar activities) in order 
to prepare cash basis and accrual general ledger and trial balances. 

F. Assist with preparation of the Authority’s budget.

G. Maintain the Authority’s financial records in a safe and secure 
environment.

H. Prepare internal monthly financial statements with month to date, 
year to date, and budget comparison in QuickBooks.

I. Attend monthly finance and board meetings.

J. Coordinate and assist in the audit of annual financial statements.

K. Prepare annual 1099 and 1098 filings for independent contractors.

L. Such other services as may from time to time be reasonably 
requested by the Authority and as may be needed to comply with the 
contractual services set forth herein.

1.1.2 Fiduciary Loan Programs. 

A. Post loan payments and loan disbursement by program to the
general ledger.

B. Record Commercial Area Revitalization Effort (CARE) Program
grant disbursements to proper CARE areas.

C. Perform monthly write-up services to include preparation of bank
reconciliations on all Authority fiduciary accounts, review of cash receipt and
disbursement activity, post journal entries, and prepare workpapers to
prepare cash basis and accrual general ledger and trial balances.

D. Prepare monthly reconciliations of the Authority’s loan portfolio for
each fiduciary program to the general ledger and coordinate with the City of
Richmond or the Authority’s loan manager to address any discrepancies.

E. Prepare internal monthly financial statements with year to date and
monthly summarization.

F. Coordinate and assist in the audit of annual financial statements.



3 

1.2 

G. Such other services as may from time to time be reasonably 
requested by the Authority and as may be needed to comply with the 
contractual services set forth herein.

Commencement and Expiration.  This Contract shall commence on 
January 1, 2023 and expire on December 31, 2023, unless terminated 
earlier in accordance with other provisions of this Contract. 

ARTICLE II – PAYMENT 

2.1 

2.2 

2.3 

2.4 

2.5 

2.6 

Contract Amount.  Contractor will be paid $36,000 for the contract term, 
payable in monthly installments of $3,000 Payments to be made by the 
Authority for all goods, services and other deliverables under this Contract 
shall not exceed such amount; furthermore, payments will be made only 
upon receipt of a proper invoice, detailing the goods and services provided 
and submitted to the Authority.  The total cumulative liability of the Authority, 
its officers, employees and agents in connection with this Contract or in 
connection with any goods, services, actions or omissions relating to the 
Contract, shall not under any circumstance exceed payment of the above 
maximum purchase price. 

Additional miscellaneous accounting and consulting services not outlined 
above may be requested and discussed if, necessary which may require an 
amendment to the contract and additional fee. 

Schedule.  The Contractor shall invoice the Authority once per month, with 
approved invoice documentation due by the 25th day of each month. 

Availability of Funds.  It is understood and agreed between the parties 
herein that the Authority shall be bound hereunder only to the extent of the 
funds available or which may hereafter become available for the purposes 
of this agreement. 

When Authority Obligated to Pay.  The Authority shall not be obligated to 
purchase or pay for any goods or services covered by this Contract unless 
and until they are ordered and either delivered or performed, as the case 
may be. 

Offset Clause.  The Authority may withhold the payment of any claim or 
demand by the Contractor until any delinquent indebtedness or other liability 
due the Authority by the Contractor shall first have been settled and 
adjusted. 

Taxes.  All prices shall be submitted exclusive of direct Federal, State and 
Local Taxes.  The Authority shall not be liable for the payment of any taxes 
levied by any local, state, or federal governmental entity against the 



4 

Contractor, and the Contractor shall pay all such taxes; furthermore, should 
the Authority nevertheless pay any such taxes, the Contractor shall 
reimburse the Authority therefor. 

2.7 Invoices.  The Contractor shall submit invoices in two copies.  All invoices 
submitted by the Contractor shall set forth each item billed in sufficient detail 
to enable the Authority to ensure that the item was ordered and corresponds 
with the contract price for such item. 

ARTICLE III – CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITIES 

3.1 Independent Contractor.  The Contractor shall provide the services required 
under this Contract as an independent contractor. 

3.2 Advertising.  The Contractor shall not use any indication of its services to 
the Authority for commercial or advertising purposes.  However, the 
Contractor may list the Authority as a reference account for prospective 
customers. 

3.3 Anti-Kickback Provision.  The Contractor warrants that it has not employed 
or retained any company or person other than a bona fide employee working 
solely for the Contractor to solicit or secure this Contract and that it has not 
paid or agreed to pay any company or person other than a bona fide 
employee working solely for the Contractor any fee, commission, percentage, 
brokerage fee, gifts or other consideration contingent upon or resulting from 
the award or making of this Contract.  For breach or violation of this warranty, 
the Authority shall have the right to annul or void this Contract without liability 
or, in its sole discretion, to deduct from the contract price or consideration, or 
otherwise recover the full amount of such fee, commission, percentage, 
brokerage fee, gift or contingent fee. 

3.4 Century Compliance.  The Contractor warrants that the hardware, software 
and firmware products, provided for the Authority’s use or used by the 
Contractor to provide any service or commodity that is the subject of this 
Contract, individually and in combination, shall successfully process, store 
and perform calculations with dates regardless of the century in which the 
dates occur. 

3.5 Compliance with Laws.  The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of 
any statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, or other laws enacted or 
otherwise made effective by any local, state, or federal governmental entity 
which may be applicable to the performance of this Contract and shall obtain 
all necessary licenses and permits thereunder. 

3.6 Contractor Misrepresentation.  If the Contractor knowingly makes a 
material misrepresentation in submitting information to the Authority, such 



5 

misrepresentation will be sufficient grounds for rescinding the award of this 
Contract. 

3.7 Drug-Free Workplace.  During the performance of this Contract, the 
Contractor agrees to (i) provide a drug-free workplace for the Contractor’s 
employees; (ii) post in conspicuous places, available to employees and 
applicants for employment, a statement notifying employees that the 
unlawful manufacture, sale, distribution, dispensation, possession, or use 
of a controlled substance or marijuana is prohibited in the contractor’s 
workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees 
for violations of such prohibition; (iii) state in all solicitations or 
advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the Contractor that 
the Contractor maintains a drug-free workplace; and (iv) include the 
provisions of the foregoing clauses in every subcontract or purchase order 
of over $10,000, so that the provisions will be binding upon each 
subcontractor or vendor.  (Va. Code § 2.2-4312.) 

For the purposes of this section, “drug-free workplace” means a site for the 
performance of work done in connection with a specific Contract awarded 
to a Contractor, the employees of whom are prohibited from engaging in the 
unlawful manufacture, sale, distribution, dispensation, possession or use of 
any controlled substance or marijuana during the performance of the 
Contract. 

3.8 Human Rights/Nondiscrimination.  Pursuant to section 2.2-4311 of the 
Code of Virginia (2005), as amended: 

(a) During the performance of this Contract, the Contractor agrees as
follows:

(1) The Contractor shall not discriminate against any employee
or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, sex, 
national origin, age, disability, or other basis prohibited by state law 
relating to discrimination in employment, except where there is a bona 
fide occupational qualification reasonably necessary to the normal 
operation of the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees to post in 
conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for 
employment, notices setting forth the provisions of this 
nondiscrimination clause. 

(2) The Contractor, in all solicitations or advertisements for
employees placed by or on behalf of the Contractor, shall state that such 
Contractor is an equal opportunity employer. 



6 

(3) Notices, advertisements and solicitations placed in
accordance with federal law, rule or regulation shall be deemed 
sufficient for the purpose of meeting the requirements of this section. 
(b) During the performance of this Contract, the Contractor shall include
the provisions of subsection (1) of the section in every subcontract or
purchase order of over $10,000, so that the provisions will be binding
upon each subcontractor or vendor.

3.9 Intellectual Property.  The Contractor represents and warrants that all 
goods and services that it will furnish under this Contract do not and will not 
infringe on any valid copyright, patent, service mark or trademark.  The 
Contractor shall pay all royalties and license fees which may be due on the 
inclusion of any patented or copyrighted materials, methods or systems 
selected by the Contractor or used by the Contractor in the performance of 
its services.  The Contractor shall defend, hold harmless and indemnify the 
Authority from all suits or claims for infringement of any patent rights or 
copyrights arising out of such selection. 

ARTICLE IV – PROPERTY OF WORK 

4.1 Work Product.  Any material, report or product, whether in electronic or 
paper form, that results from the execution of this Contract shall be the sole 
property of the Authority.  The Contractor shall not copyright any material or 
reports. Upon request, the Contractor shall turn over copies of all work 
papers and related documents to the Authority. 

4.2 Authority Property.  Any data or material with which the Authority furnishes 
the Contractor shall remain the property of the Authority.  When it no longer 
needs such data or material for its performance of this Contract, the 
Contractor shall return such data or material to the Authority or destroy such 
data or material using a method approved by the Authority. 

ARTICLE V – INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE 

5.1 Indemnification.  The Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold 
harmless the Authority, its officers, agents and employees from and against 
any and all losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses (including 
court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees) arising from any material default 
or breach by the Contractor of its obligations specified in this Contract, as 
well as all claims arising from errors, omissions, negligent acts or intentional 
acts of the Contractor, its officers, agents and employees.  Further, the 
Contractor shall assume the entire responsibility and liability for any and all 
damages to persons or property caused by or resulting from or arising out 
of any act or omission on the part of the Contractor, its subcontractors, its 
agents or its employees under or in connection with this Contract.  The 
Contractor shall hold harmless and indemnify the Authority and its agents, 



7 

its volunteers, its servants, its employees, and its officers from and against 
any and all claims, losses or expenses, including but not limited to court 
costs and attorneys’ fees, which either or both of them may suffer, pay or 
incur as the result of claims or suits due to, arising out of or in connection 
with any and all such damage, real or alleged.  The Contractor shall, upon 
written demand by the Authority, assume and defend at the Contractor’s 
sole expense any and all such claims or legal actions. 

The Authority’s finance committee (“Finance Committee”) is responsible for 
management decisions and functions, and for designating a competent 
individual to oversee any bookkeeping services or other services the 
Contractor provides.  The Finance Committee is responsible for evaluating 
the adequacy and results of the services performed and accepting 
responsibility for such services and establishing and maintaining internal 
controls, including monitoring ongoing activities. 

The Contractor cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud or illegal acts 
that may exist; however, the Contractor will inform the Authority of any 
material errors, fraud or illegal acts that come to the attention of the 
Contractor’s staff. 

5.2 Insurance.  The Contractor shall provide and maintain throughout the life 
of this Contract insurance in the kinds and amounts specified in this section 
with an insurer licensed to transact insurance business in the 
Commonwealth of Virginia.  Each insurance policy, endorsement and 
certificate of insurance shall be signed by duly authorized representatives 
of such insurers and shall be countersigned by duly authorized local agents 
of such insurers. 

5.3 Costs and Premiums.  The Contractor shall pay all premiums and other 
costs of such insurance.  The consideration paid or to be paid to the 
Contractor for the performance of the Contract includes the premiums and 
other costs of such insurance, and the Authority shall not be responsible 
therefor. 

5.4 Policy Requirements.  All insurance contracts and policies shall provide, 
or be endorsed to provide, as follows: 

(i) Subrogation against the Authority shall be waived.

(ii) The Authority and its officers, employees, agents and volunteers
shall be named as an additional insured.

(iii) Coverage will not be canceled, non-renewed or materially modified
in a way adverse to the Authority without 45 days’ written notice to
the Authority.



8 

(iv) The insolvency or bankruptcy of any of the insured shall not
release the insurer from its obligation to satisfy claims otherwise
within the coverage of such policies.

No insurance contract or policy shall be expanded to afford coverage 
which is greater than the maximum coverage approved for writing in the 
Commonwealth of Virginia. 

5.5 Endorsements.  The Contractor shall furnish the Authority with a copy of 
the policy endorsement naming the Authority and its officers, employees, 
agents and volunteers as an additional insured for each policy required 
under this Article.  The Contractor shall furnish the Authority with copies of 
such other endorsements as may be required under this Contract upon 
request by the Authority therefor. 

5.6 Certificates of Insurance.  The Contractor shall furnish the Authority with a 
certificate of insurance evidencing the above coverage, indicating that the 
Authority and its officers, employees, agents and volunteers are named as 
additional insured and that the coverage will not be canceled, non-renewed or 
materially modified in a way adverse to the Authority without 45 days’ written 
notice to the Authority.   

5.7 Contracts and Policies.  The Contractor is not required to furnish the 
Authority with copies of insurance contracts or policies required by this Article 
unless requested at any time by the Authority. 

5.8 Schedule of Coverage.  The Contractor shall provide and maintain the 
following types of insurance in accordance with the requirements of this 
Article: 

(i) Commercial General Liability Insurance with a combined limit of
not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence, $2,000,000 aggregate.

(ii) Hired /non-owned automobile Liability Insurance with a combined
limit of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence.

(iii) Statutory Workers’ Compensation and Employers’ Liability
Insurance.

(iv) Professional Liability (i.e., Errors and Omissions) Insurance with
limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence, $2,000,000
aggregate.



9 

ARTICLE VI – ASSIGNMENT, DELEGATION AND SUBCONTRACTING 

6.1 By Authority.  The Authority may assign its rights or delegate its duties, in 
whole or in part, under this Contract by written notice delivered to the 
Contractor.  Such transfer of rights or duties shall take effect upon the date 
specified in the notice or upon the assumption, if necessary, of the 
delegated duties by the assignee, whichever is later. 

6.2 By Contractor.  The Contractor shall not assign its rights or delegate its 
duties, or any part thereof, under this Contract without the prior written 
consent of the Authority.  Further, the Contractor shall not assign, sublet or 
transfer its interest or any part thereof in this Contract by means or as part 
of any sale, merger, consolidation, assignment or any other event that 
would result in new or different ownership, control, operation or 
administration of the Contractor’s business affairs without the prior written 
consent of the Authority. 

6.3 Subcontracting.  This Contract shall not be subcontracted without the prior 
written approval of the Authority. 

ARTICLE VII – REMEDIES AND TERMINATION 

7.1 Default.  In case of default of the Contractor or if the Contractor fails to 
deliver the supplies or services ordered by the time specified, the Authority, 
after due notice in writing, may procure them from other sources and hold 
the Contractor responsible for any excess cost occasioned thereby.  This 
remedy shall be in addition to any other remedies available to the Authority. 

7.2 Termination by Authority for Cause.  The Authority may terminate this 
Contract with cause at any time for the Contractor’s failure to perform its 
obligations under this Contract or to otherwise adhere to the terms and 
conditions of this Contract by delivery of written notice to the Contractor of 
the Authority’s intent to so terminate.  Such notice shall be delivered at least 
seven calendar days prior to the date of termination and shall otherwise be 
given in accordance with the requirements of this Contract for the delivery 
of notices. 

7.3 Cure.  If the Contractor cures the failure to perform or otherwise adhere to 
the terms and conditions of this Contract to the Authority’s satisfaction, 
indicated in writing to the Contractor, during this seven calendar day period, 
then the Authority’s notice of termination with cause shall be deemed null 
and void. 



10 

7.4 Effect.  Upon such termination, the Authority shall be liable only to the extent 
of reimbursable costs submitted by the Contractor and approved by the 
Authority up to the time of termination and upon delivery to the Authority of 
all completed or partially completed work performed by the Contractor.  The 
Authority shall have full right to use such work in any manner when and where 
it may designate without claim on the part of the Contractor for additional 
compensation. 

7.5 Termination by Authority without Cause.  The Authority may terminate 
this Contract without cause by delivery of written notice to the Contractor of 
the Authority’s intent to so terminate.  Such notice shall be delivered at least 
90 calendar days prior to the date of termination and shall otherwise be 
given in accordance with the requirements of this Contract for the delivery 
of notices. 

7.6 Effect.  Upon such termination, the Authority shall be liable only to the extent 
of reimbursable costs submitted by the Contractor and approved by the 
Authority up to the time of termination plus such portion of the fixed fee to 
which the Contractor may be entitled under this Contract as a result and upon 
delivery to the Authority of completed or partially completed work.  The 
Authority shall have full right to use such work in any manner when and where 
it may designate without claim on the part of the Contractor for additional 
compensation. 

7.7 Termination by Contractor.  The Contractor may terminate this Contract 
if sufficient funds are not available for the Authority to perform its obligations 
under this Contract by delivery of written notice to the Authority of the 
Contractor’s intent to so terminate.  Such notice shall be delivered at least 
45 calendar days prior to the date of termination and shall otherwise be 
given in accordance with the requirements of this Contract for the delivery 
of notices. 

7.8 Cure.  If the Authority cures by making sufficient funds available during this 
45-calendar day period, then the Contractor’s notice of termination shall be
deemed null and void.

7.9 Effect.  Upon such termination by Contractor due to unavailability of funds, 
the Contractor shall have no further obligations under this Contract. 

7.10 Waiver.  The waiver by either party of any term or condition of this Contract 
shall not be deemed to constitute either a continuing waiver thereof or a 
waiver of any further or additional right that such party may hold under this 
Contract. 

ARTICLE VIII – DISPUTE RESOLUTION 



11 

8.1 Choice of Law.  The laws, rules, and regulations of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia shall govern this Contract and any performances made or actions 
brought thereunder. 

8.2 Choice of Forum and Venue.  Any action arising from this Contract or its 
performance shall be brought and maintained only in a court located within 
the City of Richmond, Virginia. 

8.3 Jurisdiction Acknowledgement.  The Contractor accepts the personal 
jurisdiction of any court in which an action is brought pursuant to this Article 
for purposes of that action and waives all defenses to the maintenance of 
such action. 

8.4 Alternative Dispute Resolution.  The Authority may agree in writing to 
submit particular disputes arising from this Contract to arbitration and to 
utilize mediation and other alternative dispute resolution procedures; 
however, any such procedures entered into by the Authority shall be 
nonbinding.  (See Va. Code § 2.2-4366.) 

8.5 Attorney’s Fees.  Attorney’s fees shall not be recoverable by the prevailing 
party in the event the contract is subject to litigation, except as provided in 
section 5.1 herein.  (See Va. Code § 15.2-4905(3).) 

ARTICLE IX – MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

9.1 Audit.  The Authority reserves the right to audit all aspects of this Contract, 
including but not necessarily limited to (i) the Contractor’s financial 
capability and accounting system, (ii) the basis for progress payments, (iii) 
the Contractor’s compliance with applicable laws and (iv) appropriate 
vendor records.  The Authority further reserves the right to review, on 
demand and without notice, all files of the Contractor or any subcontractor 
or vendor employed by the Contractor to provide services or commodities 
under this Contract where payments by the Authority are based on records 
of time, salaries, materials or actual expenses.  In cases where the 
Contractor maintains multiple offices, the Contractor shall maintain all 
records subject to audit under this provision locally or in a manner 
deliverable at the Contractor’s expense to a location in the metropolitan 
Richmond area. 

9.2 Captions.  This Contract includes the captions, headings and titles 
appearing herein for convenience only, and such captions, headings and 
titles shall not affect the construal, interpretation or meaning of this Contract. 

9.3 Force Majeure.  If either party is unable to perform its obligations under this 
Contract due to acts of God or circumstances beyond its reasonable control, 
such obligations shall be suspended as long as those circumstances 



12 

persist, provided that the delaying party promptly notifies the other party of 
the delay and the causes.  Except where the delay is caused by an act or 
omission of the delaying party, any costs arising from such delay shall be 
borne by the party incurring the delay. 

9.4 Merger / Entire Agreement.  This Contract, including the exhibits 
incorporated herein, constitutes both a complete and exclusive statement 
and the final written expression of all the terms of this Contract and of the 
entire understanding between the Contractor and the Authority regarding 
those terms.  No prior written agreements or contemporaneous or prior oral 
agreements between the Contractor and the Authority regarding this 
Contract’s subject matter shall be of any effect. 

9.5 Modification.  This Contract shall not be amended, modified, or otherwise 
changed except in writing signed by the authorized representatives of the 
Contractor and the Authority. 

9.6 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Contract, the Authority and the Contractor hereby agree that: (i) no 
individual or entity shall be considered, deemed or otherwise recognized to 
be a third-party beneficiary of this Contract; (ii) the provisions of this 
Contract are not intended to be for the benefit of any individual or entity 
other than the Authority or the Contractor; (iii) no individual or entity shall 
obtain any right to make any claim against the Authority or the Contractor 
under the provisions of this Contract; and (iv) no provision of this Contract 
shall be construed or interpreted to confer third-party beneficiary status on 
any individual or entity.  For purposes of this section, the phrase “individual 
or entity” means any individual or entity, including, but not limited to, 
individuals, contractors, subcontractors, vendors, sub-vendors, assignees, 
licensors and sub-licensors, regardless of whether such individual or entity 
is named in this Contract. 

9.7 Notices. 

9.7.1 In General.  Any written notice by either party to the Contract shall be 
sufficiently given by any one or combination of the following, whichever shall 
first occur: (i) delivered by hand to the last known business address of the 
person to whom the notice is due, (ii) delivered by hand to the person’s 
authorized agent, representative or officer wherever they may be found or 
(iii) enclosed in a postage prepaid envelope addressed to such last known
business address and delivered to a United States Postal Service official or
mailbox.  Notice is effective upon such delivery.

9.7.2 Address.  All notices to the Authority shall be directed to: 

Department of Economic Development 



13 

City of Richmond 
1500 East Main Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
Attn: Director, Department of Economic Development 

With a copy to: 

Chairman, Economic Development Authority 
1500 East Main Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
All notices to the Contractor shall be directed to: 

Lisa Jones 
A. G. Reese & Associates, PC 
621 North 3rd Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 

WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Contract and made same effective as 
of the day and year first written above. 

APPROVED: 
Economic Development Authority A. G. Reese & Associates PC 
  of the City of Richmond, Virginia, 
  a political subdivision of the 
  Commonwealth of Virginia By: _____________________ 

Title    _____________________ 
Date: _____________________ 

By:  _______________________ 
Title: ___________________ 
Date: ___________________ 




